#### Marquette University e-Publications@Marquette

School of Dentistry Faculty Research and Publications

Dentistry, School of

4-1-2018

# Role of Dentists in Prescribing Opioid Analgesics and Antibiotics: An Overview

Ralph Dana University of Toronto

Amir Azarpazhooh University of Toronto

Nima Laghapour University of Toronto

Katie J. Suda Department of Veterans Affairs

Christopher Okunseri Marquette University, christopher.okunseri@marquette.edu

Accepted version. *Dental Clinics of North America*, Vol. 62, No. 2 (April 2018): 279-294. DOI. © 2018 Elsevier B.V. Used with permission.

**Marquette University** 

# e-Publications@Marquette

#### School of Dentistry Faculty Research and Publications/School of Dentistry

*This paper is NOT THE PUBLISHED VERSION;* but the author's final, peer-reviewed manuscript. The published version may be accessed by following the link in the citation below.

*Dental Clinics of North America*, Vol. 62, No. 2 (2018): 279-294. <u>DOI</u>. This article is © Elsevier and permission has been granted for this version to appear in <u>e-Publications@Marquette</u>. Elsevier does not grant permission for this article to be further copied/distributed or hosted elsewhere without the express permission from Elsevier.

#### Contents

Keywords	2
Key points	2
Introduction	3
Opioid analgesic prescribing practices in dentistry	4
Opioid analgesic overdose, abuse, and misuse	5
Possible alternatives to opioid analgesics in dentistry	6
Role of dentists in the prevention of opioid misuse	6
Prescription of antibiotics in dentistry	7
How to improve dentist antibiotic prescribing practices	8
Which interventions should future policies focus on?	9
Delayed prescriptions of antibiotics	10
Prescribe Appropriate Antibiotic in a Sufficient Dose and at an Acceptable Duration, Only if Indicated:	11
Summary	12
References	12

# Role of Dentists in Prescribing Opioid Analgesics and Antibiotics: An Overview

### Ralph Dana

Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

#### Amir Azarpazhooh

Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada Clinical Epidemiology & Health Care Research, School of Graduate Studies, Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada Department of Dentistry, Mount Sinai Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

#### Nima Laghapour

Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

#### Katie. J. Suda

Department of Veterans Affairs, Center of Innovation for Complex Chronic Healthcare, Edward Hines Jr. VA Hospital, Hines, IL

Department of Pharmacy Systems, Outcomes and Policy, University of Illinois at Chicago College of Pharmacy, Chicago, IL

#### Christopher Okunseri

Department of Clinical Services, Marquette University School of Dentistry, Milwaukee, WI

#### Keywords

Dentistry, Dental public health, Antibiotics, Opioids, Prescription drugs, Antibiotic stewardship

#### Key points

- Opioid analgesics and antibiotics as an adjunct or as a definitive treatment for common dental diseases is a useful and cost-effective measure when prescribed appropriately.
- Common dental conditions are best managed by extracting the offending tooth, restoring the tooth with an appropriate filling material, performing a root canal therapy, and/or by fabricating a prosthesis for the edentulous space.
- Appropriate and inappropriate use of antibiotics and opioid analgesics can lead to serious adverse drug events.
- Opioid analgesics prescribed as predefinitive and postdefinitive treatment for dental pain have the potential for misuse, abuse, or addiction.
- Opioid misuse and abuse are strong predictors for adverse events, including overdose.

#### Introduction

Opioid analgesics and antibiotics prescribed by dentists either as an adjunct or as a definitive treatment for common dental diseases is a useful and cost-effective measure when prescribed appropriately. However, many common dental conditions are best managed by extracting the offending tooth, restoring the tooth with an appropriate filling material, performing a root canal therapy, and/or by fabricating a prosthesis for the edentulous space. The appropriate and inappropriate use of antibiotics and opioid analgesics can lead to serious adverse drug events. For example, the use of antibiotics for dental infection prophylaxis has been associated with *Clostridium* difficile infection<sup>1, 2</sup> and the development of antibiotic resistance.<sup>3, 4, 5</sup> Additionally, antibiotics are frequently associated with hypersensitivity reactions.<sup>3, 4, 5</sup> Opioid analgesics prescribed as predefinitive and postdefinitive treatment for dental pain have the potential for misuse, abuse, or addiction. Opioid misuse and abuse are strong predictors for adverse events, including overdose.<sup>6</sup>

Wall and colleagues<sup>7</sup> reported that antibiotics and pain medication accounted for 3 out of 4 drugs prescribed by dentists to patients. It is estimated that dentists prescribe about 10% of all antibiotics and opioid analgesics nationally,<sup>8, 9, 10</sup> and these prescriptions could contribute to the opioid analgesic epidemic, including cases of overdose in the United States.<sup>6, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15</sup> Dental patients are particularly vulnerable to misuse because they regularly have leftover opioid analgesics that serve as a source for nonmedical use.<sup>8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18</sup> Persons experiencing antibiotic- and opioid-related adverse outcomes are more likely to visit the emergency department, and it is one of the leading causes of emergency department visits.<sup>19, 20, 21</sup> Furthermore, there is a linear relationship between inappropriate antibiotic and opioid analgesic use and adverse drug reactions.<sup>22, 23</sup> Therefore, dentists must exercise caution in how they prescribe antibiotics have considerable economic implications. It is estimated that treatment of opioid analgesic overdose, misuse, abuse, and diversion cost public and private insurance companies about \$72.5 billion dollars annually.<sup>24, 25</sup> Furthermore, the prescription of antibiotics is among the top therapeutic categories by expenditures in a majority of health care settings.<sup>26, 27</sup>

Dentist prescribing practices of opioid analgesics and antibiotics have continued to receive attention from policymakers, clinicians, and patient care advocates owing to the secondary impact of these medications on population health. Unnecessary prescribing of opioid analgesics is a growing public health concern, and they are the most commonly abused prescription drug prescribed by dentists.<sup>28</sup> Opioid analgesic misuse often starts with either a valid opioid analgesic prescription and/or acquisition of leftover drug from a family member or friend.<sup>6, 17, 18, 28, 29</sup> To highlight and ascertain the state of the science of opioid analgesics in dentistry, a joint meeting was organized by the National Institute of Drug Abuse and the National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research.<sup>30</sup> At the meeting, it was concluded that data on dentist prescribing practices of opioid analgesics are scarce and that further investigations are required to better understand the role dentists play in adolescent opioid analgesic prescribing and the risk and safety associated with adolescent opioid use, as well as identifying potential roles for dentists in terms of how to prevent the opioid analgesic misuse and abuse by adolescents.<sup>30</sup>

Despite this meeting and seminars organized by dental professional organizations, more research is needed to demonstrate specifically the efficacy of nonopioid analgesics in the management of dental pain. In addition, innovative strategies directed specifically at dental professionals will be required to help them to reduce the prescription of opioid analgesics and antibiotics after routine dental procedures. Thus, this article highlights the state of the literature on opioid analgesic and antibiotic prescribing practices in dentistry, the impact of opioid analgesic overdose, and prevention strategies to reduce opioid analgesic and antibiotic overprescription, including public policy considerations.

#### Opioid analgesic prescribing practices in dentistry

Levy and colleagues<sup>31</sup> examined rates of opioid analgesic prescribing practices by specialty, and found that, of 4.2 billion prescriptions dispensed by US pharmacies and long-term care facilities from 2007 to 2012, 289 million (6.8%) were opioid analgesics. In addition, investigators reported that the greatest percentage decrease in opioid prescribing rates were by emergency physicians (–8.9%) and by dentists (–5.7%).<sup>31</sup> Rasubala and colleagues<sup>32</sup> reviewed data from an urgent dental center in the greater Rochester area in New York. In the study, they found that 25% of patients undergoing tooth extractions or root canal treatments received a prescription for opioid analgesics. Mutlu and colleagues<sup>18</sup> reported that 20% of American oral and maxillofacial surgeons prescribed excessive amounts of opioid analgesics for pain control after third molar extraction.

Pynn and colleagues,<sup>33</sup> in a study conducted in Canada, reported that 93% of dentist respondents prescribe an opioid for patients after removal of impacted third molars. In a more recent study conducted by Steinmetz and colleagues,<sup>34</sup> opioid analgesics were prescribed in 9230 dental visits (2.8%) representing more than 96 million dental visits from 1996 to 2013 in the United States. Guy and colleagues<sup>35</sup> reported that, nationally, rates of opioid analgesics increased from 72.4 to 81.2 prescriptions per 100 persons from 2006 to 2010, remained constant from 2010 to 2012, and then decreased by 13.1% from 2012 to 2015, but that death rates of opioid involved overdose continued to increase.<sup>35</sup> Despite these variations in the rates of opioid analgesic prescribing practices, the prescription of opioid analgesics by dentists is a growing public health concern. In a study based on Medical Expenditure Survey data for 1996 to 2013, investigators found an increased trend of opioid analgesic prescription after most dental procedures. Also reported were the 4 dental procedures (implants, periodontal, root canal, and surgical procedures) with the highest rates of opioid analgesics prescriptions after adjusting for patient characteristics.<sup>34</sup> Additionally, dental patients receive prescriptions for large doses of opioid analgesics after routine dental procedures, with limited monitoring or follow-up on how leftover medications are handled. In another study, based on the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, approximately 3.8 million people aged 12 or older reported

that they misuse prescription pain relievers.<sup>36</sup> These are all alarming statistics and urgent attention is required to help reduce these unnecessary opioid analgesic prescription practices in the United States.

#### Opioid analgesic overdose, abuse, and misuse

The World Health Organization document on the management of substance abuse describes opioid overdose as a condition characterized by a combination of 3 signs and symptoms referred to as the "opioid overdose triad."<sup>37</sup> The signs and symptoms are pinpoint pupils, unconsciousness, and respiratory depression. In addition, drug overdose occurs when a toxic amount of a drug, or combination of drugs, overwhelms the body.<sup>38</sup> The National Institute of Drug Abuse describe the misuse of prescription drugs as "taking a medication in a manner or dose other than prescribed; taking someone else's prescription, even if for a legitimate medical complaint such as pain; or taking a medication to feel euphoria (ie, to get high)."<sup>39</sup> In addition, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, drug diversion is when prescription medicines are obtained or used illegally by a person.<sup>40</sup> According to the National Institute of Drug Abuse, drug addition is a "chronic, relapsing brain disease that is characterized by compulsive drug seeking and use, despite harmful consequences. It is considered a brain disease because drugs change the structure and how the brain works. These brain changes can be long lasting and can lead to many harmful, often self-destructive, behaviors."<sup>41</sup>

The dentist's role in prescribing opioid analgesics is compounded by concerns for abuse, diversion and addiction. The most commonly abused opioid analgesics are immediate release (IR) agents, such as hydrocodone and oxycodone. Dentists frequently prescribe IR agents, prescribing 12% of the overall IR agents prescribed in the United States, just behind family physicians (15% of IR prescriptions).<sup>9</sup> Ashrafioun and colleagues<sup>36</sup> examined the prevalence and association of misuse of opioid analgesic prescriptions in adults seeking dental care. In the study, investigators concluded that the nonmedical use of opioid analgesics was more common in adults seeking dental care than in the general population.

According to a report published by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, prescription opioid overdose led to the deaths of more than 33,000 people in 2015, and this was the highest in any year recorded so far.<sup>42</sup> Dodd and Graham<sup>43</sup> reported on inappropriate prescription of analgesics for dental pain at emergency departments in the United Kingdom. On average, it is estimated that more than 1000 people are treated in emergency departments for misusing prescription opioids every day.<sup>44, 45, 46</sup> Some of the factors contributing to the opioid abuse epidemic include easier access to opioids within rural communities and other nonmedical sources.<sup>34, 47</sup> It is recognized that opioids are not nearly as stigmatized or contaminated as illicit drugs, making them seem safer. In addition, health care providers have failed to anticipate the overlap between mental illness, substance abuse, and chronic pain.<sup>34, 48</sup> Furthermore, the low cost of opioid analgesics to the insured consumer may tempt some patients to resell their medication to abusers for a large profit.<sup>34, 46</sup> Opioid prescription misuse and abuse is a significant public health problem requiring urgent attention in the United States.<sup>34</sup> This crisis is receiving national attention from the media, government agencies, professional organizations, and

health science research, with a focus on opioid prescribing practices, abuse, and deaths owing to overdose.

#### Possible alternatives to opioid analgesics in dentistry

The practice of prescribing opioid analgesics for dental pain management has been based on tradition, expert opinion, practical experience, and uncontrolled anecdotal observations. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are the preferred analgesic agent when compared with opioid analgesics, because they inhibit inflammatory reactions in addition to providing analgesia.<sup>49, 50</sup> The effectiveness of NSAIDs in alleviating dental pain is well-established; therefore, these agents are considered to be first-line pharmacologic therapies for this indication.<sup>49, 50</sup> In cases of severe pain where NSAIDs are not expected to be sufficient to control acute pain or are contraindicated, opioid analgesics may be considered. However, the potential therapeutic benefits of opioid analgesics must be weighed against any risks of adverse effects and narcotic dependence (which is uncommon when prescribed for no more than 3 days).<sup>51</sup> Recent studies have also evaluated the combined administration of ibuprofen and acetaminophen in patients who can tolerate both classes of drugs, with conclusions that this combination produces greater peak analgesia and more consistent analgesia without increasing adverse effects.<sup>50, 52, 53</sup>

Dental clinics are appropriate settings for provider and patient education on the problems associated with prescription of opioid analgesics. The management of dental pain requires that dental professionals be constantly reminded of the importance of NSAIDs as an adjunct to managing common dental pathologies. Communication among dentists, medical providers, pharmacists, researchers, professional organizations, federal agencies, and health advocates will be required for better coordination of efforts to improve dental prescribing practices of opioids.

#### Role of dentists in the prevention of opioid misuse

One resource available, but not frequently utilized by dentists, are prescription drug monitoring programs (PDMPs).<sup>29, 54, 55</sup> PDMPs are statewide datasets that collect data on prescriptions dispensed in a specific state for controlled substances with the highest risk of misuse (ie, opioid analgesics). Although the components of each state's PDMP differ, a PDMP generally collects information on schedule II, III, and IV controlled substances received by a patient in the past 6 months (including opioids). With these data, an individual who seeks opioids from different providers may be identified and can be prevented from receiving multiple opioid prescriptions (or other controlled substances) that may be indicative of abuse. Authorities encourage and, in some areas, mandate, prescribers to consult the PDMP before prescribing controlled drugs. However, at this time, PDMP data are not embedded in electronic health records. Thus, providers need to use a separate system to obtain the information in the PDMP.<sup>56</sup> Mandating use of a PDMP by dentists in New York State has been shown to reduce opioid prescriptions and increase the use of nonopioid analgesics.<sup>32</sup>

# Prescription of antibiotics in dentistry

Infection-associated inflammation is the most common cause of pain and swelling in the orofacial region. Although there is a need to treat some patients experiencing these symptoms with antibiotics, recent reports have indicated that the majority of cases do not require an antibiotic.<sup>57</sup> Increasing rates of bacterial resistance to antibiotics is a concern in Canada,<sup>58</sup> the United States,<sup>59</sup> and globally.<sup>60</sup> Recently, a National Action Plan for Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria in the United States was implemented.<sup>61</sup>

The global increase in bacterial resistance to antibiotics has made the management of once manageable infections difficult, extended the complexity of treatment, increased the duration of stay of patients who require hospital care, and increased the financial burden of health services.<sup>62</sup> The indiscriminate use of antibiotics by health care providers has been cited as one of the main contributors to the increase in and spread of antibiotic-resistant infections.<sup>63, 64, 65</sup> Overprescribing of antibiotics is occurring within several areas of health care in Canada,<sup>66, 67</sup> the United States,<sup>68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73</sup> and has contributed to the development of antibiotic resistance and *C difficile* infections.<sup>1, 5</sup>

The effect of the overprescription of antibiotics in dentistry on overall antibiotic resistance is not clear.<sup>74</sup> However, dentistry prescribes a considerable proportion of antibiotics (7%–11%).<sup>4, 59, 75</sup> By commonly prescribing antibiotics, the demand or expectation of patients to receive future antibiotic prescriptions negatively enforces clinicians to prescribe more to satisfy patients.<sup>76, 77</sup> In 2014, of 31 countries, Canada ranked 12th in the outpatient antimicrobial consumption rate.<sup>78</sup> In the United States, a recent study estimated that nearly 30% of antibiotic prescriptions in primary care medical clinics from 2010 to 2011 were unnecessary.<sup>79</sup>

Treatment of common dental conditions, like all patient care, should be balanced between the need to address the patient's primary complaint and undesirable side effects of the selected treatment. Although this consideration is true of any drug prescribed by a health care provider, it is especially true of antibiotics. Despite receiving specific training regarding common dental diseases and their appropriate management, dentists are prone to prescribing antibiotics in clinical scenarios in which they are not warranted.<sup>3, 4, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88</sup> In fact, available cross-sectional studies have shown that dentists are likely to prescribe antibiotics when unnecessary. Some examples where antibiotics are administered inappropriately in dentistry<sup>3, 59</sup> are as follows: lack of adherence to the current guidelines for indications of antibiotic prophylaxis; prevention of infection after dentoalveolar; periodontal or endodontic surgery; as a postoperative analgesic after endodontic treatment or for endodontic conditions without antibiotic indication; in lieu of proper drainage or after drainage without systemic involvement; for the prevention of metastatic focal infections; or to prevent claims of negligence. Various factors are hypothesized to lead to overprescribing of antibiotics, including (i) an inadequacy of the clinician's knowledge and management of patients with infectious disease, (ii) the expectations and demands of patients, (iii) a clinician's sincere desire to provide what is felt to be the "best treatment" regardless of side effects and costs, (iv) a failure to consider alternative treatments, (v) an

inappropriate use of diagnostic aids, (vi) a fear of medicolegal reprimand, (vii) a belief that newer broad-spectrum antibiotics are the most effective form of treatment, and (viii) the pressures a clinician experiences in running a busy practice (ie, time and economic pressures).<sup>58, 66, 89, 90</sup> Accordingly, it is not clear whether supplementing dentists' didactic knowledge regarding common dental conditions would derive a benefit in terms of reducing inappropriate antibiotic prescribing.

#### How to improve dentist antibiotic prescribing practices

Antibiotic overprescribing is a multifaceted matter. There have been multiple interventions proposed to health care professionals.<sup>91</sup> Interventions may include dissemination of guidelines to providers, educational meetings and lectures, audit and feedback, clinical decision support systems, mass media campaigns, and delayed prescribing.<sup>91</sup> Practice guidelines are controversial. Although guidelines are seen as helpful in the provision of continuing education and as a support in daily clinical decision making, the most important barrier to successful implementation of clinical practice guidelines is the fear of practitioners that guidelines will reduce their professional autonomy.<sup>92</sup> In fact, in a survey of dentists, only about 50% supported the development and implementation of clinical guidelines.<sup>92</sup> There are various barriers to the use of guidelines, even when guidelines are available.<sup>93, 94</sup> These barriers may include a lack of awareness, lack of familiarity, lack of agreement, lack of self-efficacy, lack of outcome expectancy, the inertia of previous practice, and external barriers.<sup>93, 94</sup> Furthermore, it has been shown that, as a standalone initiative, guidelines may not be effective unless they are specific, uncontroversial, evidence based, and require no change to existing routine.<sup>95, 96</sup> Largely, guidelines are more effective when linked with educational initiatives.<sup>97</sup> Nevertheless, clear guidelines and prescribing policies should be in place as a reference standard to curtail inappropriate antibiotic prescribing practices. Palmer and colleagues<sup>98</sup> recommend that health care professionals need simple, clear, and practical guidelines on when and what to prescribe. Ma and colleagues<sup>99</sup> assessed the effect of guidelines written for physicians and patients for emergency department management of dental emergencies. Their guidelines emphasized appropriate dental clinic referrals and the use of NSAIDs. The implementation of these guidelines led to a significant decrease in visits for dental-related problems, a decrease in the proportion of patients with return visits, and a decrease in the proportion of patients receiving an opioid prescription. It is possible that guidelines may have a similar effect in reducing the antibiotic prescribing practices of dentists.

One study done in the United Kingdom by Palmer and colleagues<sup>98</sup> looked at whether audit, using a combination of guidelines and an educational component with feedback, could improve antibiotic prescribing among practicing general dentists. The information collected included antibiotic regimens, clinically presenting signs and symptoms, medical history, and any other reasons for prescribing before and after the audit, which included an educational component and the issuing of guidelines. After implementation of the intervention, prescriptions for antibiotics decreased by 42.5% in the postaudit period, with a concomitant reduction in the number of prescriptions that did not conform to issued guidelines.<sup>98</sup> This outcome suggests that audit, combined with an educational initiative and guidelines,

may encourage more judicious usage of antibiotics. Another study by Steed and Gibson<sup>100</sup> found similar effects of audit on dentist prescribing patterns, with audit leading to a reduction in prescription writing by approximately 50%.

A study done by Seager and colleagues<sup>101</sup> assessed the effect of educational outreach visits on antibiotic prescribing for acute dental pain among general dentists. In this randomized controlled trial, 3 groups of dentists were randomized to standard practice, receipt of guidelines, or guidelines combined with an educational visit from a trained pharmacist. Dentists receiving the guidelines combined with the pharmacist visit prescribed fewer antibiotic prescriptions to patients with dental pain and significantly fewer inappropriate prescriptions. Interestingly, prescribing practices between the control and guideline-only groups were not significantly different. As such, it was concluded that strategies based on educational outreach visits might be successful in improving antibiotic prescribing practices among dentists.<sup>101</sup>

#### Which interventions should future policies focus on?

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention has recently established Core Elements of Outpatient Antibiotic Stewardship.<sup>102</sup> The 4 core elements of outpatient antibiotic stewardship are (1) commitment, (2) action for policy and practice, (3) tracking and reporting, and (4) education and expertise. Outpatient clinicians and facility leaders can commit to improving antibiotic prescribing and take action by implementing at least 1 policy or practice aimed at improving antibiotic prescribing practices. Recommended stewardship strategies may include writing and displaying public commitments in support of antibiotic stewardship, identifying a single leader to direct antibiotic stewardship activities within a facility, including antibiotic stewardship-related duties in position descriptions or job evaluation criteria, and/or communicating with all clinic staff members to set patient expectations. Possible interventions to promote appropriate antibiotic prescribing practices include the use of evidence-based diagnostic criteria and treatment recommendations, the use of delayed prescribing practices or watchful waiting, providing communications skills training for clinicians, requiring explicit written justification in the medical record for nonrecommended antibiotic prescribing, providing support for clinical decisions, and/or using call centers, nurse hotlines, or pharmacist consultations as triage systems to prevent unnecessary visits. Clinicians and leaders of outpatient clinics and health care systems can track antibiotic prescribing practices and regularly report these data back to clinicians. Clinicians can provide educational resources to patients and families on appropriate antibiotic use (ie, use effective communications strategies to educate patients about when antibiotics are and are not needed, educate patients about the potential harms of antibiotic treatment, and/or provide patient education materials). Finally, leaders of outpatient clinics and health systems can provide clinicians with education aimed at improving antibiotic prescribing and access to persons with expertise in antibiotic stewardship (ie, provide face-to-face educational training, provide continuing education activities for clinicians, and/or ensure timely access to persons with expertise).<sup>102</sup>

All of these interventions may be effective. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Core Elements recommend implementing local and/or practice-based guidelines, delayed prescribing, communication skills training, documenting a diagnosis with each antibiotic prescription, the use of clinical decision support, and educational strategies. In their 2015 systematic review, Drekonja and colleagues<sup>103</sup> reviewed 50 studies evaluating the effect of outpatient antimicrobial stewardship programs on prescribing, patient, microbial outcomes, and costs. They found medium-strength evidence that stewardship programs incorporating communication skills training and rapid diagnostic laboratory testing are associated with decreases in antimicrobial use, and low-strength evidence that other stewardship interventions (provider and/or patient education, provider feedback, use of guidelines, delayed prescribing, restriction policies, computerized clinical decision support, and/or financial incentives) are associated with improved prescribing practices. Although no included studies reported microbial outcomes, the few studies that reported patient-centered outcomes found no adverse effect resulting from stewardship programs. They concluded that low- to moderate-strength evidence suggests that antimicrobial stewardship programs in outpatient settings improve antimicrobial prescribing without adversely effecting patient outcomes.<sup>103</sup>

A 2017 systematic review focusing on the effect of antibiotic stewardship on the incidence of infections and colonization with antibiotic-resistant bacteria<sup>104</sup> found that antibiotic stewardship programs significantly reduced the incidence of infections and colonization with multidrug-resistant Gramnegative bacteria (51% reduction), extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase–producing Gram-negative bacteria (48% reduction), and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* aureus (37% reduction), as well as the incidence of *C difficile* infections (32% reduction).<sup>104</sup> Antibiotic stewardship programs were found to be more effective when implemented with infection control measures, especially hand hygiene interventions, than when implemented alone. This systematic review concluded that antibiotic stewardship programs significantly reduce the incidence of infections and colonization with antibioticresistant bacteria and *C difficile* infections in hospital inpatients.<sup>104</sup> Overall, it can be concluded that there is "no magic bullet" intervention in changing physicians' prescribing habits; however, multiple interventions may lead to improved antimicrobial prescribing, without adverse effect to patient outcomes, with a reduction in the incidence and colonization of antibioticresistant bacteria.

# Delayed prescriptions of antibiotics

As discussed, antibiotics do not relieve dental pain, and the systemic involvement of an oral infection is the only appropriate indication for an antibiotic prescription for patients with nontraumatic dental conditions.<sup>105</sup> When clinicians feel it is safe not to prescribe antibiotics immediately, prescribing none with advice to return if symptoms worsen (before seeing a dental professional for definitive treatment) is an effective and prudent approach. However, in cases where the patient presents with no immediate indication for an antibiotic but where there is fear of future spreading infection or impending systemic involvement, the clinician may consider prescribing a delayed prescription of an antibiotic (ie, providing the prescription but advising the patient to delay its use for 48–72 hours in the hope that

symptoms resolve or do not progress before receiving definitive treatment). A Cochrane Review that evaluated delayed antibiotics for symptoms and complications of acute respiratory tract infections found that delayed prescribing resulted in 32% of patients using antibiotics compared with 93% of patients who received immediate prescriptions (however, not prescribing antibiotics at all resulted in the least antibiotic use—14% of patients).<sup>106</sup> Patient satisfaction was only slightly reduced in the delayed antibiotic group (87% satisfied) compared with the immediate antibiotic group (92% satisfied).<sup>106</sup>

Prescribe Appropriate Antibiotic in a Sufficient Dose and at an Acceptable Duration, Only if Indicated:

The least expensive antibiotic at the narrowest spectrum of activity with the fewest possible side effects should be administered for the shortest duration in the presence of an indication (and not in lieu of a palliative or definitive treatment such as drainage) and when benefits outweigh risks. Because broad-spectrum antibiotics are more likely to lead to resistance, C. difficile, and changes in the gastrointestinal microbiota, the American Association for Endodontics recommends clinicians to use narrow spectrum antibiotics (such as penicillin VK or amoxicillin) for first-line therapy to be followed with metronidazole in case of no improvement after 2 to 3 days.<sup>107</sup> In penicillin-allergic patients, clindamycin should be administered.<sup>107</sup> Azithromycin may receive consideration as a third-line choice in those patients who are unable to tolerate penicillins or clindamycin.<sup>107</sup> In regard to antibiotic dosing, the Commission of the Federation Dentaire Internationale suggests that the dose of the antibiotics must be higher than the minimum inhibitory concentration.<sup>108</sup> In practice, antibiotic doses are targeted to be 4 times greater than the minimum inhibitory concentration.<sup>82</sup> When the minimum inhibitory concentration for certain bacterial strains increases, the bacteria are assigned as antibiotic resistant and standard antibiotic dosages may become ineffective to treat infections caused by the cultured organism. Removal of pathogens and/or the source of infection determines the treatment duration.63, 108 For endodontic infections, antibiotics for 5 to 7 days is generally sufficient.<sup>3</sup> At different doses suggested by the British National formulary, 2 to 3 days are recommended.<sup>109, 110</sup> Prescribing antibiotics requiring fewer doses per day are more convenient for patients with improved compliance and tolerability.<sup>109, 110, 111</sup> To prevent microbiological and clinical relapse, antibiotics should be used for a short duration, but in an aggressive manner. Pallasch<sup>112, 113</sup> suggests that clinicians prescribe antibiotics in sufficient doses for 3 to 5 days only, with a follow-up evaluation of the patient.

A variety of practice-altering interventions could be implemented that may subsequently curb the increase in antibiotic resistance and *C difficile* infections if they result in a more judicious use of antibiotics. Studies show that significant changes in prescribing habits reduces the rate at which new antimicrobial resistance accumulates.<sup>63, 75, 114</sup> Reducing antibiotic prescribing at the general practice level results in a reduced incidence of resistance in the local community, demonstrating that modifications in the prescribing habits of individual practitioners can influence the patterns of resistance.<sup>77</sup>

#### Summary

Opioid analgesics and antibiotics are important pharmacologic agents available to dentists in managing common dental conditions. These agents are generally adjunctive in nature, and there is serious potential for abuse of these agents through unnecessary prescribing practices. Various interventions have been proposed to health care professionals in an attempt to curtail inappropriate prescribing practices. Dentists prescribe a significant proportion of antibiotics and opioids, and curtailing unnecessary dental prescribing can positively impact population health.

#### References

- 1. M.H. Thornhill, M.J. Dayer, B. Prendergast, *et al.* **Incidence and nature of adverse reactions to antibiotics used as endocarditis prophylaxis.** *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 70 (2015), pp. 2382-23882
- M.H. Thornhill, M.J. Dayer, J.M. Forde, *et al.* Impact of the NICE guideline recommending cessation of antibiotic prophylaxis for prevention of infective endocarditis: before and after study *BMJ*, 342 (2011), p. d2392
- 3. N.M. Yingling, B.E. Byrne, G.R. Hartwell Antibiotic use by members of the American Association of Endodontists in the year 2000: report of a national survey *J Endod*, 28 (5) (2002), pp. 396-404
- 4. N.S. Dar-Odeh, O.A. Abu-Hammad, M.K. Al-Omiri, *et al.* **Antibiotic prescribing practices by dentists: a review** *Ther Clin Risk Manag*, 6 (2010), pp. 301-306
- 5. B.A. Cunha Antibiotic side effects Med Clin North Am, 85 (1) (2001), pp. 149-185
- 6. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion **National action plan for adverse drug event prevention** Author, Washington, DC (2014)
- 7. T. Wall, J. Brown, R.R. Zentz, *et al.* **Dentist-prescribed drug and the patients receiving them** *J Am Coll Dent*, 74 (2007), pp. 32-41
- 8. N.D. Volkow, T.A. McLellan, J.H. Cotto, *et al.* Characteristics of opioid prescriptions in 2009 JAMA, 305 (2011), pp. 1299-1301
- L.A. Hicks, M.G. Bartoces, R.M. Roberts, *et al.* US outpatient antibiotic prescribing variation according to geography, patient population, and provider specialty in 2011 *Clin Infect Dis*, 60 (2015), pp. 1308-1316
- G.C. Rigoni Drug utilization for immediate- and modified release opioids in the US Division of Surveillance, Research & Communication Support, Office of Drug Safety, Food and Drug Administration, Silver Spring (MD) (2003)
- 11. E.R. Wright, H.E. Kooreman, M.S. Greene, *et al.* **The iatrogenic epidemic of prescription drug abuse: county-level determinants of opioid availability and abuse** *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 138 (2014), pp. 209-215
- 12. J.L. McCauley, R.S. Leite, C.L. Melvin, *et al.* **Dental opioid prescribing practices and risk mitigation** strategy implementation: identification of potential target for provider-level intervention *Subst Abus*, 37 (2016), pp. 9-14
- 13. Richard J. Durbin, United States Senator. Durbin calls on nation's medical community to curb over prescription of opioids. Available at: http://www.durbin.senate.gov/newsroom/press-releases/durbin-calls-on-nations-medical-community-to-curb-over-prescription-of-opioids. Accessed February 26, 2017.
- 14. F.C. Denisco, G.A. Kenna, M.G. O'Neil, *et al.* **Prevention of prescription opioid abuse: the role of the dentist** *J Am Dent Assoc*, 142 (2011), pp. 800-810

- 15. C.A. Porucznik, E.M. Johnson, R.T. Rolfs, *et al*. **Specialty of prescribers associated with prescription opioid fatalities in Utah 2002-2010** *Pain Med*, 15 (2014), p. 73
- 16. J.A. Aldous, R.C. Engar Analgesic prescribing patterns in a group of dentist *Gen Dent*, 48 (2000), pp. 586-590
- 17. J.A. Baker, J. Avorn, R. Levin, *et al.* **Opioid prescribing after surgical extraction of teeth in Medicaid patients, 2000-2010** *JAMA*, 315 (2016), pp. 1653-1654
- I. Mutlu, A.O. Abubaker, D.M. Laskin Narcotic prescribing habits and other methods of pain control by oral and maxillofacial surgeons after impacted third molar removal *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 71 (2013), pp. 1500-1503
- 19. N. Shehab, P.R. Patel, A. Srinivasan, *et al.* Emergency department visits for antibiotic-associated adverse events *Clin Infect Dis*, 47 (2008), pp. 735-743
- 20. E.H. Crane **The CBHSQ report: emergency department visits involving narcotic pain relievers** *Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality,* Rockville (MD) (2015)
- 21. D.S. Budnitz, D.A. Pollock, A.B. Mendelsohn, *et al.* **Emergency department visits for outpatient adverse drug events: demonstration for a national surveillance system** *Ann Emerg Med*, 45 (2005), pp. 197-206
- 22. R. Ostini, C. Jackson, D. Hegney, *et al.* How is medication prescribing ceased? A systematic review *Med Care*, 49 (2011), pp. 24-36
- 23. W.B. Runciman, E.E. Roughead, S.J. Semple, *et al.* Adverse drug events and medication errors in Australia *Int J Qual Health Care*, 15 (2003), pp. i49-i59
- 24. Moghe S. Health insurance companies step up to fight opioid epidemic CNN. Available at: http://www.cnn.com/2016/05/19/health/health-insurance-companies-opioid-epidemic/index.html. Accessed July 7, 2017.
- 25. N.P. Katz, H. Birnbaum, M.J. Brennan, *et al.* **Prescription opioid abuse: challenges and opportunities for payers** *Am J Manag Care*, 19 (4) (2013), pp. 295-302
- 26. G.T. Schumock, E. Li, K.J. Suda, *et al.* National trends in prescription drug expenditures and projections for 2014 *Am J Health Syst Pharm*, 71 (6) (2014), pp. 482-499
- 27. K.J. Suda, L.A. Hicks, R.M. Roberts, *et al.* **A national evaluation of antibiotic expenditures by health care** setting in the United States, 2009 J Antimicrob Chemother, 68 (3) (2013), pp. 715-718
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2012. Results from the 2011 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: summary of national findings. Available at: www.samhsa.gov/data/NSDUH/2k11Results/NSDUHresults2011.htm#Ch2. Accessed February 26, 2017.
- 29. Tufts Health Care Institute The role of dentists in preventing opioid abuse. Tufts health care Institute program on opioid risk management. 12th summit meeting. Executive summary Tufts Health Care Institute, Boston (2010)
- 30. Opioid prescribing to adolescents in dental settings. Available at: https://archives.drugabuse.gov/meetings/Dental/. Accessed July 5, 2017.
- 31. B. Levy, L. Paulozzi, K.A. Mack, *et al.* Trends in opioid analgesic-prescribing rates by specialty, U.S., 2007-2012 *Am J Prev Med*, 49 (3) (2015), pp. 409-413
- 32. L. Rasubala, L. Pernapati, V. Velasquez, *et al.* Impact of a mandatory prescription drug monitoring program on prescription of opioid analgesics by dentists *PLoS One*, 10 (8) (2015), p. e0135957
- 33. B. Pynn, D.M. Laskin Comparison of narcotic prescribing habits and other methods of pain control by oral and maxillofacial surgeons in the United States and Canada *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 72 (2014), pp. 2402-2404
- 34. C.N. Steinmetz, C. Zheng, E. Okunseri, *et al.* **Opioid analgesic prescribing practices of dental professionals in the United States** *JDR Clin Trans Res*, 2 (3) (2017), pp. 241-248

- 35. G.P. Guy Jr., K. Zhang, M.K. Bohm, *et al.* Vital signs: changes in opioid prescribing in the United States, 2006–2015 *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*, 66 (2017), pp. 697-704
- 36. L. Ashrafioun, P.C. Edwards, A.S.B. Bohnert, *et al.* **Nonmedical use of pain medications in dental patients** *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*, 40 (2014), pp. 312-316
- World Health Organization. Management of substance abuse. Information sheet on opioid overdose.
  2014. Available at: http://www.who.int/substance\_abuse/information-sheet/en/. Accessed July 24, 2017.
- 38. Harm reduction coalition. What is overdose? Available at: http://harmreduction.org/issues/overdose-prevention/overview/overdose-basics/what-is-an-overdose/. Accessed July 24, 2017.
- 39. National Institute of Drug Abuse. Advancing addiction science. Misuse of prescription drugs. Available at: https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/misuse-prescription-drugs/summary. Accessed July 24, 2017.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Risks of healthcare-associated infections from drug diversion. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/injectionsafety/drugdiversion/index.html. Accessed July 24, 2017.
- 41. National Institute of Drug Abuse. Advancing addiction science. The science of drug abuse and addiction: the basics. Available at: https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/media-guide/science-drug-abuse-addiction-basics. Accessed July 24, 2017.
- 42. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Opioid overdose. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/index.html. Accessed July 4, 2017.
- 43. M.D. Dodd, C.A. Graham Unintentional overdose of analgesia secondary to acute dental pain *Br Dent J*, 193 (2002), pp. 211-212
- 44. K. Hasegawa, J.A. Espinola, D.F. Brown, *et al.* **Trends in U.S. emergency department visits for opioid overdose, 1993-2010** *Pain Med*, 15 (10) (2014), pp. 1765-1770
- 45. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration **Highlights of the 2011 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) findings on drug-related emergency department visits. The DAWN report** US Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville (MD) (2013)
- 46. Executive Office of the President of the United States, 2011. Epidemic: responding to America's prescription drug abuse crisis, Washington, DC. Available at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/ondcp/policy-and-research/rx\_abuse\_plan.pdf. Accessed June 5, 2015.
- 47. A.S. Bohnert, J.E. Logan, D. Ganoczy, et al. A detailed exploration in to the association of prescribed opioid dosage and overdose deaths among patients with chronic pain *Med Care*, 54 (5) (2016), pp. 435-441
- 48. L.J. Paulozzi, R.H. Weisler, A.A. Patkar **A national epidemic of unintentional prescription opioid overdose deaths: how physicians can help control it** *J Clin Psychiatry*, 72 (2011), pp. 589-592
- 49. C.K.S. Ong, P. Lirk, C.H. Tan, *et al.* **An evidence-based update on nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs** *Clin Med Res*, 5 (1) (2007), pp. 19-34
- R.A. Dionne, S.M. Gordon, P.A. Moore Prescribing opioid analgesics for acute dental pain: time to change clinical practices in response to evidence and misperceptions *Compendium*, 37 (2016), pp. 372-378
- D. Dowell, T.M. Haegerich, R. Chou CDC guideline for prescribing opioids for chronic pain United States, 2016 MMWR Recomm Rep, 65 (No. RR-1) (2016), pp. 1-49
- 52. S.A. Cooper, S.E. Needle, G.O. Kruger **Comparative analgesic potency of aspirin and ibuprofen** *J Oral Surg*, 35 (1977), pp. 898-903

- 53. J.A. Forbes, C.J. Kehm, C.D. Gordin, *et al.* **Evaluation of ketorolac, ibuprofen, acetaminophen-codeine combination in postoperative oral surgery pain** *Pharmacotherapy*, 10 (6, pt 2) (1989), pp. 94s-105s
- 54. Office of Substance Abuse, State of Maine. Maine's prescription monitoring program. Available at: www.maine.gov/dhhs/osa/data/pmp/. Accessed February 26, 2017.
- 55. J.M. Irvine, S.E. Hallvik, C. Hildebran, *et al.* Who uses a prescription drug monitoring program and How? Insights from a statewide survey of Oregon clinicians *J Pain*, 15 (2014), pp. 747-755
- 56. Center for Disease Control and Prevention Integrating & expanding prescription drug monitoring program data: lessons from nine states National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Division of Unintentional Injury Prevention (2017)
- 57. L.P. Longman, A.J. Preston, M.V. Martin, *et al.* Endodontics in the adult patient: the role of antibiotics *J Dent*, 28 (8) (2000), pp. 539-548
- 58. J. Conly Antimicrobial resistance in Canada CMAJ, 167 (8) (2002), pp. 885-891
- 59. T.J. Pallasch Global antibiotic resistance and its impact on the dental community *J Calif Dent Assoc*, 28 (3) (2000), pp. 215-233
- 60. World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. 2014. Available at: http://www.who.int/drugresistance/documents/surveillancereport/en/.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Committee on Antibiotic Resistance. National action plan for combating antibiotic-resistant bacteria. 2015. Available at: http://https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/national\_action\_plan\_for\_combating\_antiboticresistant\_bacteria.pdf.
- 62. J.F. John Jr., N.O. Fishman **Programmatic role of the infectious diseases physician in controlling antimicrobial costs in the hospital** *Clin Infect Dis*, 24 (3) (1997), pp. 471-485
- 63. S.J. Ellison The role of phenoxymethylpenicillin, amoxicillin, metronidazole and clindamycin in the management of acute dentoalveolar abscesses–a review *Br Dent J*, 206 (7) (2009), pp. 357-362
- 64. L.C. Sweeney, J. Dave, P.A. Chambers, *et al.* Antibiotic resistance in general dental practice–a cause for concern? *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 53 (4) (2004), pp. 567-576
- 65. Antibiotic use in dentistry. ADA Council on Scientific Affairs J Am Dent Assoc, 128 (5) (1997), p. 648
- 66. E. Paluck, D. Katzenstein, C.J. Frankish, *et al.* **Prescribing practices and attitudes toward giving children antibiotics** *Can Fam Physician*, 47 (2001), pp. 521-527
- 67. E.E. Wang, T.R. Einarson, J.D. Kellner, *et al.* Antibiotic prescribing for Canadian preschool children: evidence of overprescribing for viral respiratory infections *Clin Infect Dis*, 29 (1) (1999), pp. 155-160
- 68. S.S. Smith, R.C. Kern, R.K. Chandra, *et al.* Variations in antibiotic prescribing of acute rhinosinusitis in United States ambulatory settings *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 148 (5) (2013), pp. 852-859
- 69. L.B. Gordon, M.J. Waxman, L. Ragsdale, *et al.* **Overtreatment of presumed urinary tract infection in older women presenting to the emergency department** *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 61 (5) (2013), pp. 788-792
- 70. S.L. Ackerman, R. Gonzales, M.S. Stahl, *et al.* **One size does not fit all: evaluating an intervention to** reduce antibiotic prescribing for acute bronchitis *BMC Health Serv Res*, 13 (2013), p. 462
- 71. J.L. Logan, J. Yang, G. Forrest **Outpatient antibiotic prescribing in a low-risk veteran population with** acute respiratory symptoms *Hosp Pract* (1995), 40 (1) (2012), pp. 75-80
- 72. S.G. Vanderweil, C.L. Tsai, A.J. Pelletier, *et al.* **Inappropriate use of antibiotics for acute asthma in United States emergency departments** *Acad Emerg Med*, 15 (8) (2008), pp. 736-743
- 73. R. Gonzales, D.C. Malone, J.H. Maselli, *et al.* **Excessive antibiotic use for acute respiratory infections in the United States** *Clin Infect Dis*, 33 (6) (2001), pp. 757-762
- 74. D.A. Haas, J.B. Epstein, F.M. Eggert Antimicrobial resistance: dentistry's role *J Can Dent Assoc*, 64 (7) (1998), pp. 496-502
- 75. Standing Medical Advisory Committee Subgroup on Antimicrobial Resistance. The path of least resistance [press release]. London: 1998.

- 76. P. Little, C. Gould, I. Williamson, et al. Reattendance and complications in a randomised trial of prescribing strategies for sore throat: the medicalising effect of prescribing antibiotics BMJ, 315 (7104) (1997), pp. 350-352
- 77. M.A.O. Lewis Why we must reduce dental prescription of antibiotics: European Union Antibiotic Awareness Day *Br Dent J*, 205 (10) (2008), pp. 537-538
- 78. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC) **Antimicrobial consumption rates by country** ECDC, Solna (Sweden) (2016)
- 79. K.E. Fleming-Dutra, A.L. Hersh, D.J. Shapiro, *et al.* **Prevalence of inappropriate antibiotic prescriptions among US ambulatory care visits, 2010-2011** *JAMA*, 315 (17) (2016), pp. 1864-1873
- 80. S. Saadat, S. Mohiuddin, A. Qureshi Antibiotic prescription practice of dental practitioners in a Public Sector Institute of Karachi J Dow Univ Health Sci, 7 (2) (2013), pp. 54-58
- 81. L. Al-Huwayrini, S. Al-Furiji, R. Al-Dhurgham, *et al* .**Knowledge of antibiotics among dentists in Riyadh private clinics** *Saudi Dent J*, 25 (3) (2013), pp. 119-124
- 82. F.A. Sawair Antibiotic prescription by general dental practitioners in the management of acute dentoalveolar infections *Saudi Dent J*, 18 (2) (2006), pp. 111-117
- K.P. Kumar, M. Kaushik, P.U. Kumar, *et al.* Antibiotic prescribing habits of dental surgeons in Hyderabad City, India, for pulpal and periapical pathologies: a survey *Adv Pharmacol Sci*, 2013 (2013), p. 537385
- 84. G. Vessal, A. Khabiri, H. Mirkhani, *et al.* **Study of antibiotic prescribing among dental practitioners in Shiraz, Islamic Republic of Iran** *East Mediterr Health J*, 17 (10) (2011), pp. 763-769
- 85. S.H.C. De-Bem, J. Nhata, L.C. Santello, *et al.* Antibiotic prescription behavior of specialists in endodontics *Dental Press Endod*, 1 (3) (2011), pp. 88-93
- J.J. Segura-Egea, E. Velasco-Ortega, D. Torres-Lagares, *et al.* Pattern of antibiotic prescription in the management of endodontic infections amongst Spanish oral surgeons *Int Endod J*, 43 (4) (2010), pp. 342-350
- 87. A. Rodriguez-Nunez, R. Cisneros-Cabello, E. Velasco-Ortega, *et al.* **Antibiotic use by members of the Spanish Endodontic Society** *J Endod*, 35 (9) (2009), pp. 1198-1203
- 88. S. Kakoei, M. Raoof, F. Baghaei, *et al.* **Pattern of antibiotic prescription among dentists in Iran** *Iran Endod J*, 2 (1) (2007), pp. 19-23
- 89. G. Cadieux, R. Tamblyn, D. Dauphinee, *et al* .**Predictors of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing among primary care physicians** *CMAJ*, 177 (8) (2007), pp. 877-883
- 90. T.P. Lam, K.F. Lam What are the non-biomedical reasons which make family doctors over-prescribe antibiotics for upper respiratory tract infection in a mixed private/public Asian setting? *J Clin Pharm Ther*, 28 (3) (2003), pp. 197-201
- 91. S. Zimmerman, C.M. Mitchell, A.S. Beeber, *et al.* **Strategies to reduce potentially inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in assisted living and nursing homes** Advances in the Prevention and Control of HAIs, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2014)
- 92. W.J. Van der Sanden, D.G. Mettes, A.J. Plasschaert, *et al.* **Clinical practice guidelines in dentistry: opinions of dental practitioners on their contribution to the quality of dental care** *Qual Saf Health Care*, 12 (2) (2003), pp. 107-111
- 93. T. Birrenbach, S. Kraehenmann, M. Perrig, et al. Physicians' attitudes toward, use of, and perceived barriers to clinical guidelines: a survey among Swiss physicians Adv Med Educ Pract, 7 (2016), pp. 673-680
- 94. M.D. Cabana, C.S. Rand, N.R. Powe, *et al.* Why don't physicians follow clinical guidelines? A framework for improvement *JAMA*, 282 (15) (1999), pp. 1458-1465
- 95. R. Grol, J. Dalhuijsen, S. Thomas, *et al.* Attributes of clinical guidelines that influence use of guidelines in general practice: observational study *BMJ*, 317 (7162) (1998), pp. 858-861

- 96. N.A. Palmer, Y.M. Dailey, M.V. Martin **Can audit improve antibiotic prescribing in general dental practice?** *Br Dent J*, 191 (5) (2001), pp. 253-255
- 97. J.M. Grimshaw, I.T. Russel Achieving health gain through clinical guidelines II: ensuring guidelines change medical practices *Qual Health Care*, 3 (1994), pp. 45-52
- 98. N.A. Palmer, R. Pealing, R.S. Ireland, *et al.* A study of prophylactic antibiotic prescribing in National Health Service general dental practice in England *Br Dent J*, 189 (1) (2000), p. 43
- 99. M. Ma, C.J. Lindsell, E.C. Jauch, *et al.* Effect of education and guidelines for treatment of uncomplicated dental pain on patient and provider behavior *Ann Emerg Med*, 44 (4) (2004), pp. 323-329
- 100. M. Steed, J. Gibson **An audit of antibiotic prescribing in general dental practice** *Prim Dent Care*, 4 (2) (1997), pp. 66-70
- 101. J.M. Seager, R.S. Howell-Jones, F.D. Dunstan, *et al.* A randomised controlled trial of clinical outreach education to rationalise antibiotic prescribing for acute dental pain in the primary care setting *Br Dent J*, 201 (4) (2006), pp. 217-222
- 102. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Core elements of outpatient antibiotic stewardship. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/getsmart/community/improvingprescribing/core-elements/coreoutpatient-stewardship.html. Accessed July 10, 2017.
- 103. D.M. Drekonja, G.A. Filice, N. Greer, *et al* .**Antimicrobial stewardship in outpatient settings: a** systematic review *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, 36 (2) (2015), pp. 142-152
- 104. D. Baur, B.P. Gladstone, F. Burkert, *et al.* Effect of antibiotic stewardship on the incidence of infection and colonisation with antibiotic-resistant bacteria and Clostridium difficile infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis *Lancet Infect Dis*, 17 (9) (2017), pp. 990-1001
- 105. A. Aminoshariae, J.C. Kulild Evidence-based recommendations for antibiotic usage to treat endodontic infections and pain: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials *J Am Dent Assoc*, 147 (3) (2016), pp. 186-191
- 106. G. Spurling, C. Del Mar, L. Dooley, *et al.* **Delayed antibiotics for symptoms and complications of respiratory infections**
- 107. American Association of Endodontics. Antibiotics and the treatment of endodontic infections 2006. 2014. Available at:

http://www.aae.org/uploadedfiles/publications\_and\_research/endodontics\_colleagues\_for\_excellence \_newsletter/summer06ecfe.pdf. Accessed July 10, 2017.

- 108. L.P. Samaranayake, N.W. Johnson **Guidelines for the use of antimicrobial agents to minimise** development of resistance *Int Dent J*, 49 (1999), pp. 189-195
- 109. M.W. Fazakerley, P. McGowan, P. Hardy, *et al.* **A comparative study of cephradine, amoxycillin and phenoxymethylpenicillin in the treatment of acute dentoalveolar infection** *Br Dent J*, 174 (10) (1993), pp. 359-363
- 110. M.V. Martin, L.P. Longman, J.B. Hill, *et al.* Acute dentoalveolar infections: an investigation of the duration of antibiotic therapy *Br Dent J*, 183 (4) (1997), pp. 135-137
- 111. R. Bax **Development of a twice daily dosing regimen of amoxicillin/clavulanate** *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 30 (Suppl 2) (2007), pp. S118-S121
- 112. T.J. Pallasch Antibiotic resistance Dent Clin North Am, 47 (4) (2003), pp. 623-639
- 113. T.J. Pallasch **Pharmacokinetic principles of antimicrobial therapy** *Periodontol* 2000, 10 (1996), pp. 5-11
- 114. S.J. Dirks, G.T. Terezhalmy **The patient with an odontogenic infection** *Quintessence Int*, 35 (6) (2004), pp. 482-502